ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Greenville County

G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV - 5 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

EDDIE PILCHER,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000807

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR judge err in failing to grant Petitioner a belated direct appeal where the record revealed the plea judge failed to advise Petitioner of his right to appeal and plea counsel equivocated on whether he advised Petitioner of his right to appeal?
- II. Did the PCR judge err in denying Petitioner relief where the record revealed plea counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain the audio recording of Petitioner's statement to law enforcement showing Petitioner was guilty only of being an accessory and not as a principal?

STATEMENT

Petitioner was charged with kidnapping (2012-GS-23-2620), armed robbery (2012-GS-23-2619), and burglary in the first degree (2012-GS-23-2620) in Greenville County. App. 107 – 109; App. 110 – 111; App. 113 – 114. Petitioner's charges were not presented to the grand jury, but he waived presentment during the guilty plea. App. 7, line 20 – App. 8, line 7. Petitioner entered guilty pleas to all charges on June 26, 2012 before the Honorable Edward W. Miller. L. Mark Moyer represented the state, and John Erwin, Jr., represented Petitioner. App.1. Pursuant to the state's recommendation, Judge Miller sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years in prison on all charges to be served concurrently. App. 24, lines 19 – 20; App. 109; App. 112; App. 115. No notice of appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf.

On November 14, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 32 – 46. On February 19, 2014, the matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing before the Honorable G. Edward Welmaker. Mills Ariail represented Petitioner, and Karen Ratigan represented the state. App. 53. By an order filed April 9, 2014, Judge Miller denied Petitioner relief. App. 97 – 106.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR judge erred in failing to grant Petitioner a belated direct appeal where the record revealed the plea judge failed to advise Petitioner of his right to appeal and plea counsel equivocated on whether he advised Petitioner of his right to appeal.

Relevant Facts

The plea transcript reveals no advisement by the plea judge to Petitioner of his right to appeal his convictions and sentences following his guilty plea. During the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that neither the plea judge nor plea counsel advised Petitioner of his right to appeal. App. 77, line 11 – 18. Further, Petitioner testified that he would have appealed and that he asked plea counsel to file an appeal on his behalf. App. 78, lines 9 – 16.

Plea counsel equivocated when asked if he had advised Petitioner of his right to appeal:

I don't remember if we did or not. I know that, I know that he didn't tell me he wanted an appeal. I know that I probably would have told him that he had the right to appeal his guilty plea. Again, it's been a while. I couldn't tell you for certain that we did. I'm pretty sure I would have, and I know for a fact he didn't ask me to.

App. 93, lines 10 – 16. Although plea counsel claimed he would have filed a notice of appeal if Petitioner had requested one, plea counsel claimed there were no “appealable issues.” App. 93, lines 17 -22.

Although the PCR judge acknowledged that Petitioner testified he requested plea counsel to file a notice of appeal, the PCR judge found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving that he asked for an appeal or that plea counsel had a reason to think he would have wanted an appeal. App. 100; App. 102 – 103.

Discussion

Petitioner was denied his “one fair bite at the apple” because he did not voluntarily or intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal. Wilson v. State, 348 S.C. 215, 218, 559 S.E.2d 581, 582 (2002) (providing that “[a] defendant has the procedural right to one fair bite at the apple. That is, every defendant has a right to file a direct appeal.”); Legge v. State, 349 S.C. 222, 562 S.E.2d 618 (2002) (providing that a defendant has the right to a belated direct appeal when he did not knowingly or intelligently waive his right to a direct appeal). “To waive a direct appeal, a defendant must make a knowing and intelligent decision not to pursue the appeal.” Wilson v. State, 348 S.C. 215, 217, 559 S.E.2d 581, 582 (2002) (citing Davis v. State, 288 S.C. 290, 342 S.E.2d 60 (1986) and White v. State, 263 S.C. 110, 208 S.E.2d 35 (1974)). “[A]bsent extraordinary circumstances, there is no constitutional requirement that a defendant be informed of the right to a direct appeal from a guilty plea.” Weathers v. State, 319 S.C. 59, 61, 459 S.E.2d 838, 839 (1995). This Court has advised that an example of an extraordinary circumstance is when the defendant inquires about an appeal. Id. In 2000, the United States Supreme Court explained that extraordinary circumstances include when a rational defendant would want to appeal and when the defendant expressed an interest in appealing. Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470 (2000).

“[A] lawyer who disregards specific instructions from the defendant to file a notice of appeal acts in a manner that is professionally unreasonable.” Id. at 477. “This is so because a defendant who instructs counsel to initiate an appeal reasonably relies upon counsel to file the necessary notice. Counsel’s failure to do so cannot be considered a strategic decision; filing a notice of appeal is a purely ministerial task, and the failure to file reflects inattention to the defendant’s wishes.” Id. Even more basic than the filing of the notice is the consultation with the defendant by the lawyer regarding the advantages and disadvantages of taking an appeal. Id. at 478. The lawyer

must make a reasonable effort to discover the defendant's wishes. Id. When counsel fails to consult, the question is whether counsel's failure to consult constitutes deficient performance. Id.

Although the Supreme Court refused to hold "as a constitutional matter, that in every case counsel's failure to consult with the defendant about an appeal is necessarily unreasonable, and therefore deficient," the Court held that "counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal when there is either reason to think either (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal, or (2) that this particular defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing." Id. at 479-480. Concerning prejudice, the defendant must show "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient failure to consult with him about an appeal, he would have timely appealed." Id. at 485.

The PCR judge erred in denying Petitioner a belated direct appeal. As an initial matter, the PCR judge relied exclusively on plea counsel's claim that no issue for appeal existed. However, controlling Supreme Court precedent requires the PCR judge to review that record to determine whether a rational defendant would want to appeal. Roe v. Flores Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480 (2000). The PCR judge simply failed to undertake this inquiry as required.

Had the PCR court engaged in the mandated inquiry, he would have determined a rational defendant would want to appeal the guilty plea based upon the record's clear demonstration of Petitioner's lack of understanding of the guilty plea. Very early in the plea colloquy, Petitioner revealed he suffered from serious psychiatric issues, which required powerful medication. App. 3, lines 6 – 19. When the court inquired into the medication's effect of Petitioner, he responded, "I don't think." App. 3, lines 20 – 24. When the judge made further inquiries into Petitioner's ability to make a knowing and voluntary plea, Petitioner admitted he did not "fully understand." App. 4,

lines 1 – 14. As a result, the judge refused to accept Petitioner’s plea at that time. App. 4, lines 17 – 22.

Later that day, Petitioner entered a guilty plea before the same judge. Again the plea judge questioned Petitioner’s understanding:

The Court: Does it limit your ability to understand what’s goin’ on here?

The Defendant: No, sir.

The Court: You’ve had an epiphany since this morning?

The Defendant: No, sir.

The Court: No?

The Defendant: I don’t know what that means.

(Laughter)

The Court: You you got it all together, you understand what’s happenin’. This morning you said - - -

The Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: - - - you didn’t - - -

The Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: - - - know what was goin’ on.

The Defendant: Yes, I know what’s goin’ on.

App. 6, lines 11 – 25.

Several times during the plea, the judge indicated concerns with Petitioner’s comprehension. For example, when the judge asked Petitioner about waiving presentment of the indictments to the grand jury, the judge questioned whether the answer was Petitioner’s or his lawyer’s. App. 8, lines 5 – 6. When the plea judge asked Petitioner about the factual basis as recited by the prosecutor, Petitioner responded with confusion. App. 17, line 11 – App. 19, line 13. In fact, the judge refused

to accept the plea yet again. App. 19, line 14 –App. 20, line 1. The judge finally accepted the plea when plea counsel stated:

Your Honor, I think Mr. Pilcher we reviewed the discovery and I think that we agree that he would be more than likely convicted if this was put in front of a jury. I think the crucial parts of the statement that he made he would affirm and would admit that's what happened. Perhaps we got a little, case of a little bitta stage fright but, um,--

App. 22, lines 19 – 24. In fact, the judge was so concerned about Petitioner's mental health and capacity that he offered a mental evaluation on the spot. App. 22, lines 1 – 7.

Plea counsel met with Petitioner only twice despite the very serious charges. App. 90, line 11 – App. 91, line 1. Therefore, it was no surprise that he did not learn of Petitioner's mental health issues until the guilty plea itself. App. 92, lines 13 – 20. At the PCR hearing, plea counsel claimed Petitioner's obvious lack of understanding at the guilty plea proceeding was due to Petitioner having been on a hunger strike. Plea counsel, nevertheless, went forward with the guilty plea after Petitioner ate lunch. App. 89, lines 3 – 24. However, a review of the guilty plea proceeding after lunch demonstrated Petitioner's continued lack of comprehension.

Had the PCR judge examined the record to determine whether a rational defendant would want an appeal, as required by the United States Supreme Court, the PCR judge would have discovered the obvious concerns with Petitioner's competency and mental health. This issue was clear and entitled Petitioner to an appeal. Thus, the PCR judge erred in denying Petitioner a belated direct appeal.¹

¹ Pursuant to Rule 243(i)(2), SCACR, Petitioner is submitting a "Statement of Issue on Appeal" with this certiorari petition.

II. The PCR judge erred in denying Petitioner relief where the record revealed plea counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain the audio recording of Petitioner's statement to law enforcement showing Petitioner was guilty only of being an accessory and not as a principal.

Relevant facts

During the guilty plea, Petitioner expressed disagreement with the factual basis given by the state. App. 17, line 11 – App. 21, line 9. When the prosecutor told the plea judge that the factual basis recited was the product of Petitioner's audio recorded statement to police, Petitioner disputed this. App. 21, line 18 – App. 22, line 17; App. 23, lines 15 – 21.

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that plea counsel informed him that the police claimed Petitioner admitted committing the crimes. App. 65, line 19 – 25. However, plea counsel never obtained the audio recording of Petitioner's statement or even informed Petitioner of its existence. App. 66, lines 6 – 14. Petitioner was unaware of the audio recording because the officer surreptitiously recorded the conversation. App. 66, lines 18 – 24. Petitioner learned of the recording when he obtained a copy of the discovery after the guilty plea. App. 66, line 25 – App. 67, line 16; App. 90, line 4 – 7. Had Petitioner known of the recording, he would not have pled guilty because the recording demonstrated Petitioner's guilt as an accessory only. App. 66, lines 13 – 14; App. 69, lines 2 – App. 70, line 11.

Plea counsel admitted he never obtained a copy of the audio recording despite his awareness of its existence. App. 84, lines 5; App. 86, lines 6 – 22. In fact, plea counsel never even listened to the tape despite the solicitor's offer to make it available. App. 85, line 12. Instead, plea counsel relied upon the supplemental report discussing the statement prepared by the officer. App. 84, lines 5 – 12.

The PCR court found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving the plea counsel should have obtained the audio recording made by the police prior to the guilty plea. App. 101 – 102. Further, the PCR court found plea counsel credible. App. 102. However, the PCR court held Petitioner failed to demonstrate he would have gone to trial if plea counsel had obtained the recording. App. 102

Discussion

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a criminal defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “In order to establish a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove: (1) that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms; and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant’s case.” Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). “Where allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel are made, the question becomes, ‘whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.’” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686).

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires that a defendant knowingly and voluntarily enter a plea of guilty. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969). The Supreme Court has expressly held that the actions of defense counsel may render a plea involuntary and thus violate of due process. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 56 (1985). As to the first prong, “[i]n the context of a guilty plea, . . . [the] inquiry turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered.” Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 360, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013) (citations omitted). “The second, or “prejudice,” requirement . . . focuses

on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.” Id. (quoting Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)). Stated differently, to demonstrate prejudice, “the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.” Hill, 474 U.S. at 59.

The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief. The undisputed evidence demonstrated that Petitioner would not have pled guilty if he had been aware of the audio recording. No evidence countered this position. Further, the PCR court made no credibility finding regarding Petitioner’s testimony on this point.

Additionally, the plea transcript indicated Petitioner’s disagreement with the facts as rendered by the state, which were the same facts contained within the police officer’s supplemental report. Quite simply, the only information Petitioner ever received concerning his statement to police was an officer’s interpretation of his statement. The audio recording revealed multiple discrepancies with the factual recitation given by the prosecution at the guilty plea and provided potential legal avenues to challenge the admissibility at trial.

The recording showed that the police officer did not advise Petitioner of his Miranda² rights until over eight minutes after the recording started. The recording is clear the officer spoke to Petitioner at length on the recording and prior to the initiation of the recording implicating Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) and State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 838 (2010). It was not until almost twenty-five minutes into the recording that Petitioner agreed to sign the waiver of rights. Thus, for well over ten minutes, the officer worked to convince Petitioner to waive his rights, including a discussion of how much time Petitioner would likely receive and the ability to

² Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1996).

run sentences concurrently. The officer warned that if Petitioner did not talk now and evidence surfaced later, when Petitioner was being released from prison on unrelated charges, then Petitioner would have to go back to prison.