STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 21 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000807

Eddie James Pilcher, Jr., Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR judge err in failing to grant Petitioner a belated direct appeal where the record revealed the plea judge failed to advise Petitioner of his right to appeal and plea counsel equivocated on whether he advised Petitioner of his right to appeal?
2. Did the PCR judge err in denying Petitioner relief where the record revealed plea counsel was ineffective in failing to obtain the audio recording of Petitioner's statement to law enforcement showing Petitioner was guilty only of being an accessory and not as a principal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner waived presentment to the Greenville County Grand Jury on charges of kidnapping (2012-GS-23-2618), armed robbery (2012-GS-23-2619), and first-degree burglary (2012-GS-23-2620). (App.pp.107-08; pp.110-11; pp.113-14). John “Jake” Erwin, Jr., Esquire represented Petitioner.

On June 26, 2012, Petitioner pled guilty. The Honorable Edward W. Miller sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of 15 years for kidnapping, 5 years for armed robbery, and 15 years for first-degree burglary. (App.p.24; p.109; p.112; p.115). Petitioner did not appeal his convictions or sentences.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on November 14, 2012 (2012-CP-23-7210). (App.pp.32-46). A hearing was held at the Greenville County Courthouse on February 19, 2014. (App.pp.53-95). Petitioner was present and represented by R. Mills Ariail, Jr., Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office represented Respondent. The Honorable G. Edward Welmaker denied relief in an order filed April 9, 2014. (App.pp.97-106).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving he was entitled to a review of his direct appeal issues.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated the plea judge never advised him of the right to appeal. (App.p.77). Petitioner stated he asked his plea attorney to file an appeal because “something don’t feel right.” (App.p.78).

Plea counsel testified he did not recall whether or not he discussed the right to appeal with Petitioner. (App.p.93). Plea counsel testified, however, that Petitioner did not ask him to file an appeal and that there were no appealable issues from the guilty plea hearing. (App.p.93).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found plea counsel was credible. The PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving either that he asked plea counsel to file an appeal or that plea counsel had reason to think he would have wanted to file an appeal after he voluntarily pled guilty.” (App.pp.102-03).

Plea counsel has a constitutionally imposed duty to consult with the defendant about an appeal only when there is reason to think either: (1) that a rational defendant would want to appeal or (2) that this defendant reasonably demonstrated to counsel that he was interested in appealing. Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. 470, 480, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 1036 (2000). In order to make this determination, “courts must take into account all the information counsel knew or should have known.” Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2066 (1984)). Although not determinative, a highly

relevant factor will be whether the conviction follows a trial or a guilty plea, both because a guilty plea reduces the scope of potentially appealable issues and because a plea may indicate the defendant seeks an end to judicial proceedings. Id.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner was not entitled to a review of direct appeal issues. Even assuming arguendo that plea counsel did not advise Petitioner of the right to file an appeal, he was not obligated to have done so. Petitioner admitted to the plea judge that he was guilty and participated in the crime. (App.pp.13-14; p.23). Petitioner also told the plea judge he understood the trial rights he was waiving in pleading guilty, was satisfied with counsel, and had not been coerced. (App.pp.12-14). Petitioner made a clear, informed choice to plead guilty. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 243-44, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 1712 (1969) (holding that, to be knowing and voluntary, a plea must be entered with a full understanding of the charges and the consequences of the plea). Based on the thorough and complete guilty plea colloquy, it is unlikely a rational defendant would have wanted to appeal. See Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 U.S. at 480, 120 S. Ct. at 1036. Nothing transpired during the guilty plea hearing that would have indicated Petitioner wanted to appeal. Further, while Petitioner stated he asked plea counsel to file a notice of appeal, plea counsel disputed this and the PCR judge found specifically found plea counsel's testimony on this issue was credible. (App.pp.102-03). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses).

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving he is entitled to a

review of direct appeal issues from his guilty plea hearing. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof, the PCR judge did not err in denying relief on this issue. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

II. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel should have obtained an audio recording before he pled guilty.

A.

At the guilty plea hearing, the assistant solicitor recited the following facts of Petitioner’s case:

The incident happened on September the 8th of 2010 at the Quality Inn in Greer within Greenville County. The defendant along with co-defendant, two co-defendants, gathered at Oakview Village and borrowed this defendant’s girlfriend’s car and they armed themselves with an AK-47 and a pistol, they then drove to the Quality Inn where this defendant knocked on the room where they saw a Hispanic male enter. The victim came to the door and the two co-defendants entered while armed with the weapons and robbed the victim of his money, his gold chain and car keys. This defendant waived his rights and gave Greer Police Department a voluntary statement admitting his guilt and implicating the other co-defendants.

(App.pp.16-17). Petitioner stated he was the driver and did not have a weapon.

(App.pp.17-20). The assistant solicitor stated:

I’m reading over the report and he gave a a confession on that was recorded in an audio recorder in which he he told the police that he used his girlfriend’s car, they went to Oakview Village, borrowed an AK-47 and a pistol, he went up to the door with them, the other two people had the guns. I mean, he gave all this in his confession according to the police report that I’m reading right now.

(App.p.21) (emphasis added). Petitioner told the plea judge “for the most part I did the crime, I participated.” (App.p.23). Petitioner received a 15-year sentence (while his two

co-defendants had received 20- and 25- year sentences). (App.pp.23-24).

B.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated he had two meetings with plea counsel. (App.pp.64-65). Petitioner stated they discussed “everything that the police said.” (App.p.65). Petitioner stated he had previously spoken to the Greer Police Department and that they had made a hidden recording. (App.p.66). Petitioner stated he was unaware of this recording until 45 days after he pled guilty. (App.pp.67-68). Petitioner stated the prosecutor should have been able to retrieve the recording. (App.pp.73-74). Petitioner stated the recording indicated he said he did not commit the crime but was an accessory. (App.p.70). Petitioner stated he would not have pled guilty if he had reviewed this recording. (App.p.66).

Plea counsel testified Petitioner had given a statement to the Greer Police Department. (App.p.91). Plea counsel testified he did not receive a copy of the audiotape in discovery but did have the supplemental report “that had the substance of the interview.” (App.p.84). Plea counsel testified he and Petitioner reviewed this supplemental report. (App.p.84). Plea counsel testified “me and [Petitioner] reviewed that. And he wanted to plead guilty. He acknowledged that that was what he said. Never had the actual tape, but he acknowledged that the report that we had was what he had said.” (App.p.84). Plea counsel testified the information in the supplemental report was consistent with Petitioner’s statement. (App.p.85).

In denying Petitioner’s application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found Petitioner “failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel should have obtained the

audio recording made by the Greer Police Department before his guilty plea hearing.” the PCR judge found plea counsel was credible. The PCR judge found Petitioner entered a voluntary guilty plea and “failed to demonstrate he would have gone to trial if plea counsel had obtained the recording.” (App.pp.101-02).

C.

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel’s ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). When there has been a guilty plea, the applicant must prove that counsel’s representation was below the standard of reasonableness and that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59, 106 S. Ct. 366, 370 (1985).

D.

The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving plea counsel was ineffective. Petitioner failed to demonstrate plea counsel did not render reasonably effective assistance. Plea counsel testified that, while he did not have the Greer audiotape, the substance of that interview was in the supplemental report he received in discovery. Plea counsel testified he reviewed the supplemental report with Petitioner prior to the guilty plea hearing and Petitioner acknowledged the information in the report was what he told police. Further, plea counsel testified the information in the

supplemental report was consistent with Petitioner's confession. The PCR judge specifically found plea counsel's testimony was credible regarding this issue. (App.p.102). See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. at 13, 430 S.E.2d at 522. It should be noted that there was no proof provided at the PCR hearing that the assistant solicitor was in possession of the audiotape and simply did not turn it over. Plea counsel, in fact, testified he believed that he received full discovery from the State. (App.p.91). There would have been no reason for plea counsel to have requested the audiotape from the solicitor's office. Further, there would have been no reason for plea counsel to have requested the audiotape from the Greer Police Department. Petitioner's argument at the guilty plea hearing was that he was not armed and was merely the driver. This was actually presented as the factual scenario in his statement, the supplemental report, and the assistant solicitor's recitation of the facts at the guilty plea hearing. Petitioner did not tell plea counsel these facts were inaccurate. Rather, he told plea counsel the information in the report and statement were accurate. As such, it was not incumbent upon plea counsel to have investigated any further. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066 (holding "a court deciding an actual ineffectiveness claim must judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct").

Petitioner also failed to demonstrate he suffered any prejudice. Petitioner gave a confession to police in which he described his involvement in the crime, as well as the roles played by his co-defendants. While he attempted to dispute the factual recitation given at the guilty plea hearing, those facts actually comported with what he stated his

role was in this crime. Petitioner told the plea judge he participated in this crime and did not dispute the veracity of his confession. Petitioner failed to present any credible evidence or testimony that he would never have pled guilty if he had listened to the audiotape that was the basis of the confession he reviewed with plea counsel. Further, the PCR judge's finding that plea counsel's testimony was more credible is supported by the fact that, while Petitioner testified he was unaware of the audiotape until 45 days after his guilty plea hearing, the audiotape was mentioned by the assistant solicitor at the plea hearing. (App.p.21). Petitioner has failed to demonstrate there was a reasonable probability that – had he reviewed the audiotape sooner – he would have gone to trial instead of pleading guilty. See Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. at 58-59, 106 S. Ct. at 370; see also Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

E.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying relief. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. at 389, 570 S.E.2d at 174.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues discussed above.